
Wednesday, November 10, 2021  Agenda  

Rochester Township Supervisors Meeting 
Rochester Town Hall 

Wednesday, November 10, 2021 
7:00 PM 
AGENDA 

 
To participate by telephone, dial (978) 990-5000 and enter access code 253635 

 
I. Call to order Town Board Meeting (Pledge of Allegiance)  

II. Minutes of the October 14, 2021 Board Meeting 

III. Deputy Report – Dean Thompson 

IV. Call for additional agenda items 

V. Old Business 

A. Pavilion Estates EAW – status 

B. Engineering consulting support – work group 

C. 2630 Wild Rose Ln. SW – status 

VI. New Business 

A. Pavilion Estates GDP 

B. Snow plowing – RES2021_11_01 Mayo Woodlands Third (Glenwood Road); 

RES2021_11_02 Lilly Farm 3 and 4; RES2021_11_03 Millie Meadow Estates 

C. Residential uses – air BNB / camping 

D. Information Items: 

a. ARPA fund uses 

b. 2021 road mileage certification 

E. New agenda items; as added earlier 

VII. Reports 

A. Treasurer’s Report – Randy Staver 

B. Road Maintenance Supervisor Report – Mark Cochran 

C. TCPA Report – Jeff Orth 

D. Board of Adjustment Report 

E. Planning & Zoning Commission Report 

F. Board Chair Report 

VIII. Adjourn 



 

PAGE | 1 
Board Meeting Minutes – October 14, 2021 

Rochester Township ~ Olmsted County ~ Minnesota ~ 4111 11th Ave. SW ~ Rochester, MN  55902 

 

Rochester Township 
Board Meeting Minutes 

October 14, 2021 
 

Meeting was called to order at 7:00 pm by Chairman Matt Kitzmann. 
 

Members present - Matthew Kitzmann, Jamie Neisen, Brian Zmolek, Brian Mueller, 

Jeff Orth and Randy Staver 

 

Guests – Mark Cochran, Roger Ihrke, Dean Thompson, Bill Tointon, Ed Clark, Jeff 

Broberg, Steve Connelly, twenty-three members of the public. 

 

Minutes – Jamie Neisen moved to approve the minutes for the September 9, 2021 

meeting.  Brian Zmolek seconded.  All voted in favor (5-0) and the motion passed. 

 

Deputy’s Report – Deputy Dean Thompson reviewed the call report of 45 calls for 

service.  Dean noted that the county received a grant for two speed trailers. 

 

Old Business: 

Pavilion Estate – EAW 

 Roger Ihrke reported and provided a report on behalf of TCPA.  He stated that at 

their last meeting the Planning and Zoning Commission had approved the zone 

change and denied the GDP based on the proposed lot sizes of less than 3.5 

acres.  Roger walked through the project timeline to date and underscored 

certain process rules, e.g. the 60 day rule which ends November 18, 2021. 

 Roger provided history of where the 3.5 acres criteria came from which 

happened to be the average lot size in the county at a certain point in time.  

Roger said that it is an average established and used by the township since 1999 

but is not meant as a strict standard. 

 The county has not updated their criteria and land use plan since 2016 although 

they may be making changes within the next several months. 

 Roger said that staff believes that the GDP still meets criteria for approval with 

one exception which is the length of the proposed roadway.  Roger referred to 

findings that have been written supporting approval. 

 Jamie Neisen asked for some clarification of the 3.5 acre criteria as addressed in 

the opinion from the county.  Roger responded in part that some lots in the 

Cairnbrae Estates development are greater than 3.5 acres.  He also reiterated 

that the 3.5 acres is an average county-wide. 

 Brian Zmolek commented whether a win-win solution could be found.  He asked 



 

PAGE | 2 
Board Meeting Minutes – October 14, 2021 

how small a lot can be and still have individual septic systems.  Roger responded 

two acres is the minimum.  Roger further responded that to reduce the lot sizes 

would require another approach such as establishing a special district or use of a 

community septic system.  Roger went on to say that there would need to be 

sufficient findings to deny or ask the developer to modify their plan.  Brian stated 

that by perhaps reducing the lot sizes that might reduce the length of the road 

and also possibly allow more protection of the rookery. 

 Bill Tointon spoke.  He was the consultant of record working with the county and 

township in 2016 when the land use plan was created.  In response to Brian’s 

questions, Bill stated that alternative plans have been considered but each 

alternative presented new challenges such as more grading or more removal of 

trees.  Also, there would likely be an increase in development cost. 

 Roger asked that if the Board leans toward denial that they table the item until 

the November meeting to allow Roger time to write sufficient findings. 

 Jeff Orth asked whether anyone was aware of active nests this year.  The 

response was yes.  Matt Kitzmann commented that the zone change and GDP 

are separate topics from the EAW appeal and litigation. 

 Jeff Orth moved for approval of the zone change.  Brian Zmolek seconded.  All 

voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 Jeff Orth asked whether a wildlife buffer might be used similar to a buffer found in 

Heritage Hills.  Roger responded that a 50 foot wildlife corridor is provided in the 

proposed plan.  Jeff Orth asked Mr. Tointon whether the wildlife could be 

expanded in size.  Bill responded that as the project would move forward he 

would seek to minimize disturbances. 

 Brian Zmolek moved to table the GDP decision until the November meeting.  

Jamie Neisen seconded.  All voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 Bill Tointon asked for some direction.  Brian Zmolek volunteered to discuss 

options with the developer. 

 

Engineering consulting support work group 

 There was no update to report.  Brian Zmolek will try to set up a meeting with 

Roger Ihrke and Jeff Orth.  Brian Mueller commented that his experience working 

with whks in the past has been positive. 

 

New Business: 

Mayo Woodlands Third Final Plat – 

 Roger Ihrke spoke.  He stated that the Planning and Zoning Commission 

approved the plat at their last meeting.  Staff recommends moving forward. 

 Roger asked that the Board have some discussion about a proposed pedestrian 

trail.  Cost estimates have been provided.  The developer is also involved in the 

trail discussions.  Roger said that it would take about a month to get on the 



 

PAGE | 3 
Board Meeting Minutes – October 14, 2021 

county boards agenda which would allow time to create a trail agreement.  Roger 

said the topic should be on the agenda next month. 

 Jamie Neisen asked whether the trail agreement should be part of the 

Development Agreement.  He also asked why certain items were mentioned as 

being deleted from the original agreement dated June 13, 2002.  The engineer 

from WSB responded that those earlier items were not applicable to this 

agreement.  He read the text of what was deleted.  Roger also stated that the 

items were removed at the request of the township legal counsel. 

 Jamie asked about some language changes to add clarity.  Roger responded 

that those changes have already been made and are included in the agreement 

being proposed for approval and signature this evening. 

 Jamie asked whether there is language that provides for individual lot grading 

plans.  Roger said if the language is not included then it could be included in 

covenants.  Ed Clark clarified that the grading plans are in the covenants versus 

the Development Agreement. 

 Jamie asked whether the language "substantially completed" could be changed 

to reflect issuance of occupancy permit.  The township's subdivision ordinance 

uses the language "totally completed".  Roger stated that "totally completed" and 

issuing an occupancy permit are the same.  After some discussion Jamie 

recommended adding the following language to the DA: “However, the Township 

shall not accept the dedicated public roadways for maintenance by the Township 

or taxpayer's expense until such time as fifty percent (50%) of the houses in the 

Project have received occupancy permits and the second lift of bituminous 

paving has been finished on all public dedicated roadways within the plat.” 

 Roger asked the Board to approve the agreement with the thought that the 

individual site grading plan language be included in the Development Agreement. 

 Ed Clark noted that the trail must be referred to as a recreational trail going 

forward and not a pedestrian trail since it is not ADA compliant to be called a 

pedestrian trail.  Roger corrected that changes could be made that would allow it 

to still be considered a pedestrian trail. 

 Brian Zmolek moved to amend the Development Agreement to include the 

individual lot grading language and that it should apply to all lots.  Brian Mueller 

seconded.  All voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 Jamie Neisen moved approval of the final plat and Development Agreement as 

amended.  Brian Mueller seconded.  All voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 Roger spoke about concerns raised by Peter Tiede relative to well agreement 

language and about a septic line that runs under a township roadway and wanted 

the Board to be aware. 

 Jamie Neisen asked about the homeowner’s association and the potential 

difficulty finding people to participate given some complexities that can arise.  

Brian Mueller reminded the Board that the township does not enforce covenants. 



 

PAGE | 4 
Board Meeting Minutes – October 14, 2021 

 Discussion occurred about trail maintenance and the responsibility.  The question 

was raised whether homeowner’s associations could serve in that role.  Roger 

noted that there are multiple associations in the area which might complicate 

response. 

 Roger mentioned that it would be unlikely that the township would be upgrading 

Meadow Crossing Road in the near future and he felt that a separate pedestrian 

trail would help public safety.  Jamie agreed that it would be very expensive for 

the township to widen Meadow Crossing Road and a trail would be a less 

expensive alternative for the township to improve public safety. 

 Discussion occurred whether to pave the trail or leave it gravel.  Roger 

mentioned a Subordinate Service District which can be used in a situation like 

this so that costs of maintenance are not the responsibility of the entire township.  

However, Roger said that the cost to set up the district is about the same as the 

cost to pave the trail.  Roger reiterated that the developer is willing to participate 

in the trail project which is a plus.  Ed Clark spoke to what aspects of the trail bid 

he would be willing to bear.  He also suggested leaving the trail as gravel and 

see how much it is used before deciding whether to pave it. 

 Brian Mueller moved to accept the bid and the cost portions that the township 

would handle with the trail remaining gravel.  Ed Clark would pay $52,250 for a 

crushed rock trail from Glenwood Road SW to Mayo Woodlands Road SW and 

the township would pay $10,315 for the crushed rock trail from Mayo Woodlands 

Road SW to Wright Road SW.  The cost to pave the trail ($30,105) will be 

deferred.  Jamie Neisen seconded.  All voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 Jeff Orth moved to approve the final plat.  Brian Zmolek seconded.  All voted in 

favor and the motion passed. 

 

2630 Wildrose Ln SW – 

 A letter written by Peter Tiede for pursuing an order to raze the building was 

discussed. 

 Brian Mueller moved to approve the letter and send it.  Jeff Orth seconded.  All 

voted in favor and the motion passed.  Peter Tiede will be asked to send the 

letter. 

 

Height Restrictions - Letter – 

 A letter had been received from Ms. Viki Morris asking the Board to reconsider 

the language in the building height ordinance.  Roger stated that part of the issue 

with the Wild Rose property is that the illustration submitted showed the grade as 

though it was already there.  The topic will be discussed further at a later date. 

 

Snow Plowing Contract Rates – 

 Mark Cochran spoke and talked about how Joint Powers handles plowing of non-



 

PAGE | 5 
Board Meeting Minutes – October 14, 2021 

township roads.  The topic will be discussed at the next Joint Powers meeting.  

No action is required at this time. 

 

Information Items: 

 Performance Bonds – Randy Staver informed the Board of work being done to 

determine which performance bonds are still active and their current face value.  

He is continuing to do research. 

 

 Annual Picnic – Randy Staver provided a summary report for the 2021 picnic.  

Total cost for the event was $976.86 and the budgeted amount was $500.  Some 

different food items were tried this year.  The Board will revisit the budgeted 

amount during the annual budget discussions. 

 

 ARPA Reporting – Randy Staver informed the Board of information received that 

stipulates reporting requirements for any ARPA funds expended.  The first report 

will be due by April 30, 2022.  Mark Cochran will be making a proposal to Joint 

Powers about some potential fund uses. 

 

 MS4 License – Randy Staver informed the Board that we received a letter from 

the MPCA that our MS4 application has been accepted and they issued notice of 

coverage.  Next steps will involve creating a mitigation plan.  Brandon Theobold 

spoke and said he would be working with staff on any corrective measures. 

 

 MnDOT Mapping – Randy Staver reported that MnDOT is requesting updated 

township map information.  He has reached out to Olmsted county GIS to see if 

this can be coordinated since other townships are being asked for the same 

information.  County staff have contacted MnDOT to determine how best to 

proceed. 

 

 Dedication of Roads – Randy Staver reported that we received a letter from 

Peter Tiede informing the township of changes in Minnesota statute related to 

road use and maintenance.  The Board will discuss at a later date the information 

and recommendations provided by Mr. Tiede. 

 

New Agenda Items: 

 Land Use Plan.  There seem to be questions about interpretation of the land use 

plan and being equitable and consistent across developments.  Jeff Orth 

commented that the challenge is in finding the right balance between efficient 

use of land including agricultural use, affordable residential use, etc.  The 

Planning and Zoning Commission is asking for direction on the appropriate lot 



 

PAGE | 6 
Board Meeting Minutes – October 14, 2021 

sizes that they should look to approve.  Board discussion indicated reluctance 

setting specific numbers given the variability of development projects although 

there was some sentiment toward setting a standard lower than 3.5 acres.  The 

land use plan will be revisited but at this time flexibility is still needed. 

 

Reports: 

Treasurer’s Report – 

 Treasurer Randy Staver reported.  Jamie Neisen moved approval of the 

treasurer’s report.  Brian Mueller seconded.  All voted in favor and the motion 

passed. 

 Randy noted a refund received from whks for $4,461.14 for an invoice paid twice.  

He also noted the $100,684.90 received in ARPA funds which is being held in 

account 1306. 

 

Rochester Township Claims – Jamie Neisen moved and Brian Mueller seconded to 

accept and pay Rochester Township claims #4877-4896 in the amount of $42,413.23.  

All voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 

JPB Claims – Brian Mueller moved and Jamie Neisen seconded to accept and pay 

Joint Powers Board claims #5590-5620 and the Rochester Township share in the 

amount of $24,641.17, and a payroll share of $12,860.26.  All voted in favor and the 

motion passed. 

 

Road Maintenance Supervisor Report – 

 Mark Cochran talked about the following: spraying has been completed for the 

season; the new garage door has been installed; mowing has been completed 

for the season; attended a continuing education event; getting prices on a 

replacement mower; some patching ongoing and minor ditch work. 

 

TCPA Report – 

 Matt Kitzmann attended on behalf of Jeff Orth.  He reported that things are in 

very good shape financially.  The process to find Roger’s replacement has 

begun.  A comprehensive test will be developed for potential applicants. 

Board of Adjustment Report – 

 No meeting this month. 
 
Planning and Zoning Commission Report –  

 Information from the recent meeting is contained in above discussions (Pavilion 

Estates and Mayo Woodlands Third). 

 



 

PAGE | 7 
Board Meeting Minutes – October 14, 2021 

Board Chair Report –  

 Matt talked about a well dispute and how it has been resolved although the 

parties will need to work through the county.  Jamie spoke about a construction 

noise complaint he receive.  The contractor has been contacted and they said 

they would take care of it. 

 

Upcoming Meetings – 

 Joint Powers Board – October 22, 2021 – Cascade town hall – 9:00 am 

 Planning and Zoning Commission – November 9, 2021 – 7:00 pm 

 

Meeting Adjourned – Jamie Neisen moved to adjourn the meeting.  Brian Mueller 

seconded.  All voted in favor and the motion passed.  Meeting was adjourned at 11:40 

pm. 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
__________________________________________________ 
Randy Staver, Clerk / Treasurer 
 
 
__________________________________________________ 
Matt Kitzmann, Chairman 



TOWNSHIP COOPERATIVE PLANNING ASSOCIATION 

 

  4111 11th Avenue SW Room 10                  Roger Ihrke, Administrator 

  Rochester, MN  55902                     David H. Meir, Administrator 

                  

  PH: (507) 529-0774                                                                           roger@tcpamn.org 

  FX: (507) 281-6821                            david@tcpamn.org  

 

TCPA 

 

Date:  02/01/2021 

 

To:  Rochester Township Planning Commission  

  Rochester Township Board 

  Steve Connelly 

Aderonk Mordi 

 

RE:  Zone Change and GDP – Section 6-Rochester Township 

 

Meeting: On Tuesday, February 9, 2021 after 7:00 pm the Rochester Planning Commission will hold a public 

hearing via telephone conference regarding: 

 

In accordance with the requirements of Minn. Stat. Section 13D.021, Rochester Township Planning 

Commission, Mike Herman, Chair, has determined that an in-person meeting is not practical or prudent 

because of a health pandemic declared under Chapter 12 of the Minnesota Statutes. 

 

Because of the Covid-19 health pandemic it has been determined that attendance at the regular 

meeting location by members of the public is not feasible and members of the Commission will 

participate by telephone.  

 

Public comment will be accepted via email.  Comments will be accepted up until Tuesday February 9, 

2021 via email at - tcpacomment001@gmail.com - Members of the public may monitor the meeting by 

calling this phone number: (551) 240-6019. The Commission has a strong preference for comments and 

questions to be communicated before the meeting to facilitate the discussion. However, email 

comments to the same email address – tcpacomment001@gmail.com - will be monitored during the 

hearing and read aloud.  The chair shall announce when those emails will start to be accepted and when 

that period will end.  The Commission may also take comments over the telephone.      

  

The total meeting packet will be posted on the website at - tcpamn.org and then click on staff reports 

and should be available after February 4, 2021.  All emailed comments received up to close of business 

on Friday, February 5, 2021 shall be posted on the website by Monday, February 8, 2021. 

 

Zone Change and General Development Plan: 

 

A hearing to consider rezoning 28.97 acres from A-3 Agricultural District to R-1 Low Density Residential 

District by Steve Connelly.  The rezoning application includes a general development plan to subdivide 

the parcel into 10 lots served by a private road and individual sewage treatment systems and shared 

wells.  The development is proposed to be known as Pavilion Estates.   

mailto:tcpacomment001@gmail.com
mailto:tcpacomment001@gmail.com


 

Location: West of Lilly Farm Subdivision(s) and north of Boulder Creek Subdivision with access off of Boulder Creek 

Lane SW. 

 

Legal: The east 30 acres of the west 60 acres of the East half of the Southwest quarter of Section 6, Township 

106 north, Range 14 west, Olmsted County, Minnesota. 

 

Owner/Applicant:   

Steve Connelly, PO Box 861, Byron, MN  55920 

 

Enclosures: 

1. Applicant submission package 

2. Plat/Location Map 

3. Aerial Photo Map 

4. Zoning Map 

5. Land Use Plan Map 

6. Soils CER Map 

7. Soil Type Map 

8. Flood Soils Map 

9. Elevations Map 

 

 Reviewers: Olmsted County Planning              Olmsted County Assessor 

  Olmsted County Health Department  Minnesota Department of Natural Resources 

  Olmsted GIS     Minnesota Pollution Control 

  Olmsted County Public Works   GGG Engineering 

  Olmsted County Soil and Water   Rochester Public Utilities 

  Minnesota Energy Resources  Century Link 

  Charter      Jaguar Communications  

Minnesota Energy    Peoples Energy Coop 

  

Note: 

This zone change request will not be presented to the township board until the County Board has acted 

upon the Land Use Plan Amendment request to change the property from “Potential Suburban” to 

“Suburban”.  The applicant has applied for this request and it should be completed by the County within 

the next sixty days. 

 

Staff Review  

 

Overview:  Rochester Township works with Olmsted County to determine what types of developments are  

  planned for which areas of the Town.  The tools used to plan developments are known as 

  land use plans.  Both Olmsted County and Rochester Township have land use plans.  We use  

  these plans to guide where and what types of developments should be considered in which areas. 

   

The Olmsted County Land Use Plan goes on to provide guidance on the density of the “Suburban  

Development” area.  The goal of the County Plan is for density in the “Suburban Development” area to 

be at a rate of one dwelling per 3.5 acres.  The Olmsted County Attorney has determined that the rate is 



an overall average of the entire County and does not apply to individual developments. This 

development is proposing a density one lot per 2.9 acres. 

 

R-1 Low Density Residential District is the standard rural residential zoning district in Rochester 

Township.  R-1 standards are lots which are over two acres in size and are served by individual sewage 

treatment systems and private or shared wells.  Recently approved developments in Rochester 

Township, such as Millie Meadows, have a density of 2.65 acres per lot and Mayowood Estates has an 

overall density of 3.17 acres per lot.  In the case of Millie Meadows, we have 60 lots on approximately 

159 acres.  In Millie Meadows then, meeting the land use plan goal of 3.5 acres per lot would have 

resulted in a development of 45 lots as opposed to 60.    

 

The Township Board should decide what density they would like to maintain within the Township and 

create goals, policies, and ordinances to accomplish that density.  In this instance, meeting the current 

goal of 3.5 acres per lot would result in eight lots instead of ten.   

 

Currently the property is owned by Steve Connelly with a sale pending to Aderonk Mordi.  That sale 

transaction may not be completed prior to the zone change hearing, thus both parties have signed the 

application. 

 

The neighborhood surrounding the 28.97-acres listed on the application would be described as follows:  

 

• Cascade Creek flows through the north end of the development and beyond that is pasture and 

woods currently zoned A-3 Agricultural District owned by the Nigon Family.  

• Small undeveloped parcels are located to the west and currently zoned A-3 Agricultural District. And 

designated as “Urban Service Area” on the Olmsted County Land Use Plan Map.    

• South of this proposed development is Boulder Creek Subdivision which is a residential subdivision 

zoned Boulder Creek Special District.  Boulder Creek Special District allowed for lots that are less 

than two acres in size which are served by community septic systems.   

• Property to the east is zoned R-1 Low Density Residential District known as Lilly Farm. 

 

General Development Plan:  Ordinance in regular type and staff review, where applicable, in italics.  

 

1. Purpose:  Rochester Township considers vital the orderly, integrated, compatible development of 

the limited land area within the township.  The Olmsted County General Land Use Plan and the 

Rochester Township Land Use Plan establishes general land use policy.  The zoning ordinance 

establishes detailed policies, regulations, and standards for specific areas of the township.  General 

Development Plans are necessary to: 

 

a. insure that the landowner and developer investigate(s) the broad effects development of 

property will have on the site and also on adjacent properties and the public infrastructure; 

 

b. guide the future growth and development of those portions of the township identified for 

development in accordance with the land use plan; 

 

c. protect the natural, social and economic character of the township by encouraging orderly 

development that assures appropriate timing and sequencing; 

 



d. insure that public facilities and services are available concurrent with development and will 

have a sufficient capacity to serve the proposed development(s); 

 

e. prevent the pollution of water bodies and groundwater; assure the adequacy of drainage; 

and establish protection for and wise management of natural resources in the township; 

 

f. provide for open spaces through the efficient design and layout of the land; 

 

g. avoid and remedy the problems associated with improperly subdivided lands, including 

premature subdivision and scattered subdivision.   

 

2. A GDP is required: 

 

a. For any land use plan amendment, zone change, or subdivision of land requiring 

platting of land located within an Urban Service Area; 

 

1) A GDP shall not be required for any portion of an area for which a GDP has  

    previously been approved by the Town Board. 

2) A GDP may be waived by the Town Board based on the factions of subsection 2 

    (b) (1-6). 

 

b. In the review and approval of a proposed zoning district amendment in the Suburban 

Subdivision Development Area the Commission and the Town Board shall first determine 

whether a general land use plan [sic] (general development plan) shall be required based on 

the following factors.  

 

1) consistency with the land use plan policies; 

2) size of the subject property and parcels adjacent thereto; 

3) the potential for street, surface water runoff and drainage systems, and open space  

    connections from the subject property to adjacent property, developed and 

    undeveloped; 

4) the amount of undeveloped land in the vicinity and amount that borders the  

    subject property; whether proposed development is infill development;  

5) onsite and adjacent property site characteristic including floodplain, shoreland, 

    public waters, bluff lands, and public streets and street pattern; 

6) adjacency to the Urban Service Area; 

7) sufficiency of public facilities, and services serving the proposed development 

    area, and appropriate timing of and location of development. 

 

c. The Town board shall have the authority to initiate a GDP for a parcel or area located within 

the Urban Service Area or the Suburban Development Area as designated on the Olmsted 

County General Land Use Plan. 

 

3.   A GDP shall be acted on separately by the Town Board and Commission in accordance  

      with procedures of Section 4.00 Amendments. A GDP and zoning map amendment may be  

      reviewed at the same time in the hearing process.  The action taken must be by separate 

      motion of the Commission and Town Board. 



 

4.   A General Development Plan shall include: 

 

a.   all current parcels proposed for subdivision and development and under rezoning; 

 

       Provided. 

 

b. all other parcels abutting the property proposed for rezoning or within one-half mile of the 

boundaries of the property proposed for rezoning located with the urban service area, 

urban reserve area or suburban development area as delineated on the land use plan; 

 

Adjoining and abutting parcels are shown and extends out the one-half mile on a separate 

document. 

 

c. all adjacent lands under the same ownership as the owner or applicant proposing the 

rezoning; 

 

Olmsted County Property Records does not indicate that any of the adjacent land is owned 

by Steve Connelly or Aderonke Mordi. 

 

d.   all parcels needed to provide access to public roads. 

 

This development would access Boulder Creek Lane SW via a private roadway system. 

 

5.   The following physical and planning factors should be addressed in a General Development 

Plan: 

 

a. existing and proposed land uses, densities, and general lot sizes and location; 

 

 Provided are property size, current zoning of properties except the current zoning of the 

proposed development parcel which is A-3 Agricultural District, proposed density, lot sizes, 

lot lines, proposed private roadway and connection to the township’s public roadway 

system.  Connection to the undeveloped parcels to the west would need to be accessed from 

the same connection this development is using or from 60th Street SW.    

 

b. transportation and other infrastructure systems internal to the planning area including the 

street pattern and connections to the external street network and shared water supply and 

sewage treatment systems; 

 

 Transportation and other infrastructure systems 

 

Because of the Decorah edge features and floodplain on this property and the adjoining Lilly 

Development, a connection to the east is unlikely.  Development to the west would be 

difficult because access to 60th Ave SW (Proposed to become a 4-lane divided highway) will 

be limited.  Development of a portion of the lands to the west could come off the same 

access as this proposal (an extension of Boulder Creek Lane SW)   

 



The roadway as proposed would go right to the property line on the west side in some areas.  

The width of the roadway has been reduced to 45 feet and from the normal public roadway 

size of 66 feet and the cul-de-sac has been reduced to 90 feet from the normal size of 120 

feet.  These reductions meet the private roadway standards in the Ordinance. No 

stormwater treatment/retention areas are shown.   

 

Water supply and sewage treatment system 

 

The applicant is proposing shared wells and individual sewage treatment systems.  During 

the preliminary platting process more information as to the location of the septic sites and 

wells would be provided.  Normally a GDP only indicates the types of systems they are 

proposing to use. 

 

c. the surface water drainage systems; 

  

When discussing the development with the applicant’s representative we discussed how 

stormwater would be handled.  A drainage and utility easement is proposed to be provided 

on the east side of the roadway. Water flowing from the east will be allowed to continue 

through the roadway via a series of culverts and into the eastern ditch system.  From the 

ditch system water would then be taken into a stormwater basin on one of the lots.  Most of 

the other lots will utilize individual rain gardens.   

 

d. the open space system that may include natural resource lands (unique habitat, outdoor 

recreation space, wooded areas, significant visual resource areas), and sensitive lands 

(shorelands, wetlands, flood plain, steep slopes, sinkhole concentrations and other features 

dependent on the site); 

 

This plan does not provide any open space. As noted below a dedication of 1.5 percent as 

open space Is required by Ordinance.  In this instance it would amount to .44 acres. 

 

ARTICLE IX    DEDICATIONS AND RESERVATIONS 

Section 9.0. REQUIREMENT FOR OPEN SPACE 

Where deemed appropriate by the Commission, additional open space suitably located and of adequate 

size for parks, playgrounds, or other recreational activities for local or neighborhood use, shall be 

provided for in the proposed subdivision. 

Section 9.1. OPEN SPACE 

All developments exceeding twenty (20) acres, shall provide a minimum of 1.5% of the gross 

development area in a single contiguous area with permanent dedication for common open space. This 

space shall not include development septic set aside area. The open space area shall be covered by a 

homeowner’s association agreement.  One-third of the open space must be of a buildable quality. Open 

spaces exceeding 2 acres may be non-contiguous. Open space shall reflect the site-specific natural 

characteristics. 



Section 9.2. PARKS AND PUBLIC USE SITES 

When a park or other public use site shown in the Comprehensive Development Plan or Official Map of 

Olmsted County or Rochester Township lies wholly or partly within the boundaries of the proposed 

subdivision, and such park or other public use site is not dedicated for public use to Rochester Township 

or Olmsted County, the Commission may recommend that the area be reserved for acquisition by 

Rochester Township for a period of one and one-half (1 1/2 years).The Town board shall endorse this 

reservation by indicating a desire to purchase said site or sites at the time of platting 

 

No open space is shown on the GDP.  Clarification should be made, and this item discussed by the 

Commission during the hearing process to determine what types of open space requirements 

there shall be.  Developers have requested a variance to this provision in the past but to date, 

Rochester Township has not granted a variance to this requirement.  In this instance, the 

required open space would calculate to be approximately .44 acres. 

 

e. the schedule for development of infrastructure. 

 

Applicant proposes to do the development in a single phase. 

 

6.   In the review of a General Development Plan, the Commission and the Town Board shall make 

findings indicating that: 

   

a. proposed land uses are in accordance with the Olmsted County General Land Use Plan, any 

Rochester Township Land Use Plan, and Rochester Township Zoning Map;  

 

  The land use is consistent with residential uses and would be considered consistent with the 

Olmsted County and Rochester Township Land Use Plans once the County has completed the 

land use plan amendment to change the designation from “Potential Suburban” to 

“Suburban” on the land use plan map.   

  

 Thus, this criterion is met. 

 

b. the street pattern is appropriate to serve properties under consideration; 

 

 The proposal is for 10 single family lots on a proposed private roadway system that ends in a 

cul-de-sac.     
 

 Since the private drive is an easement it is calculated into the lot sizes.   

 The plan does not state how long the private drive is but when scaling it we estimate it to be 

over 1400 feet in length. Lots 1-8, according to scale, would each have about 200 feet of 

road frontage along the east side of the road and the cul-de-sac lots, 9 and 10, would have 

approximately 50 and 75 feet respectively.   

 

 Thus, this criterion is not met. 

 

c. the proposal makes provision for planned capital improvements and streets based on the 

Olmsted County Capital Improvement Plan and Olmsted County Thoroughfare Plan; 

 



 This would meet this criterion since it does not access any of Olmsted County’s roads. 

 

d. the proposal makes adequate provision for surface water drainage, soil erosion control, 

water supply and sewage treatment, consistent with State statute and rule and County or 

Township ordinance; 

 

 The exhibit does not show any water treatment sites.  A grading plan will have to be 

submitted and approved prior to construction of the road and or dwellings.  Septic areas will 

need to be identified on each proposed lot.  The applicant has stated that shared wells will 

be used.   

 

 Along with the in-place ordinance requirements, this criterion is met. 

   

e. the lot, block and street layout is consistent with General Land Use Plan use, development 

and resource management policy, and subdivision design principles;  

 

The lot, block and street layout is not consistent with the general development and resource 

management policy and subdivision design principals. 

 

 Thus, this criterion is not met. 

 

f. unique natural resource features and sensitive areas are protected through the open space 

provisions and appropriate lot layout; 

 

No open space has been identified on the GDP.   Many times open space is provided at the 

entrance to the development for subdivision signs. Although no sign is required, most 

subdivisions have them.  A sign is shown on the west side of the roadway on lot 2.  Staff 

discussed a trail system separated from the roadway leading to a mail box system at the 

entrance of the subdivision.      

 

The plan shows the bluffland setback on lots 9 and 10 (pink area).  Any development on 

those lots must be south of the setback area. 

  

         This criterion is not met. 

 

g. development will occur in an orderly fashion; 

 

    Single phase development so there should be no phases.  Building permits will not be 

granted until the roadway is completed.    

 

 Thus, this criterion would be met. 

   

h. connecting roads are adequate to handle projected traffic, or provision has been made to 

correct deficiencies.  

 

Boulder Creek Lane SW starts at its intersection with Weatherhill Road SW, goes north about 

300 feet and then intersects with Boulder Creek Drive SW.  Both Weatherhill Road SW and 



Boulder Creek Drive SW provide access to 60th Ave SW.  East Weatherhill Road SW provides 

access to Salem Road SW to the south.  All these roads, except 60th Ave SW, are township 

roads. This development would not impact the roadway system enough to require upgrades 

to these roads. 

 

The developer has not stated if the private roadway would be paved.   

 

If the private roadway is paved, this criterion is met. 

 

General Development Plan Conclusion: 

 

  Rochester Township works in conjunction with Olmsted County on land use decisions.  The 

  Olmsted County Land Use Plan Map shows this area as being within the “Potential Suburban”  

              area of the plan.  The applicant has applied to Olmsted County to have the designation changed to 

“Suburban.”  If approved this area qualifies for large lot development. A general development plan has 

been created and submitted by the applicant.  

   

  The applicant has also provided a detailed wetland and Decorah edge report, for the Commission to  

   review, which supports why this property should be developed as a rural subdivision.  This is valuable  

information to have, especially when siting the homes.  It may be an appropriate discussion to suggest 

that the Developer create building envelopes which would require lot owners to construct the dwelling 

within that envelope to help protect the environmental features of this development.  Another 

suggestion may be to create an environmental corridor along the eastern boundary of the property as 

open space.   

  

Findings shall be based on the General Development Plan meeting the criteria as listed above.  Staff has 

reviewed this request in accordance with the applicable standards and provisions as included in this 

report.  Based upon staff review and analysis above, staff recommends changes be made to the plan to 

meet all the criteria listed.  The Planning Commission should discuss the criteria and determine if moving 

the plan forward would be appropriate with or without recommending changes.  The findings listed 

above are not complete to support approval.  Staff has developed a recap of items from the report and 

some unanswered questions which the Commission may want to discuss/consider. 

  

A. Open space  

B. Non-vehicular traffic 

C. Homeowner’s association 

D. Storm water retention easements  

E. Should there be a grading plan for the entire development instead of just the roadway areas as in 

the past?  The plan would then include erosion measures to be followed on each lot when 

construction takes place on them. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

Application # 2: Rezoning 

 

Zone Change for approximately 28.97 acres, currently zoned A-3 Agricultural District.   

 



Residential type districts are currently located to the east and south of this proposed development.  To 

the north and west is an area designated on the Olmsted County Land Use Plan Map as “Urban Service 

Area” meaning eventual annexation to the City of Rochester.  Zoning designation of the adjoining lands 

was covered in a prior section of this report.  

 

Land Use Plan: 

The property proposed for rezoning is located within an area designated as “Potential Suburban” on the 

Olmsted County General Land Use Plan.  A land use plan amendment is in process with Olmsted County 

to change the designation to “Suburban Subdivision.” Action by the Town Board should not take place 

until this designation has been changed by the Olmsted County Board. 

 

Existing Land Use: 

The proposed development is currently zoned A-3and is entirely wooded with of steep slopes.  There is 

no evidence the property has ever been row cropped farmland.  The elevations show steep slopes along 

the north and east borders of the property.  Steep slopes are also shown within lots 6 and 7 of the 

general development plan.  Floodplain soil types and wetlands do exist and are located on the northern 

portions of lots 9 and 10 as depicted the general development plan. Much of the land has soils 

considered poor to excellent for row crop farming with crop equivalent ratings (CER’s) of 40 to 90 with 

an average of 70.   This is somewhat misleading because farming on the steep slopes would be difficult if 

not impossible without major terracing.  In and around the areas containing floodplain soils and 

wetlands the CER’s are between 40 and 80.  Any lands with a CER lower than 55 are not considered good 

for row cropping (see soils map).   

 

Adjacent Land Use and Zoning: (see Overview in previous section of report dealing with GDP) 

 

Ordinance: 

Section 4.00 (C) of the Rochester Township Zoning Ordinance governs zoning amendments by property 

owners.  The Planning and Zoning Commission's recommendation will be taken to the Township Board 

for final approval. 

 

Reviewers List was the same as the GDP (see above) 

 

Comments have not been returned by reviewers.  Any comments will be provided to the Commission at 

the hearing. 

   

General Development Plan: 

The applicant has submitted a general development plan and a copy is provided in your packet. 

 

Findings        

Section 4.00 H Amendment Findings (ordinance is in regular text, staff finding in italics) 

 

 1. The proposal is consistent with the policies of the General Land Use Plan; 

  

Olmsted County uses a “Comprehensive Land Use Evaluation System” (CLUES) Model as a guide to 

identify and evaluate land within the County for suburban development.  Page 62 of the 3/25/2014 

Olmsted County General Land Use Plan defines how suburban subdivision areas are scored: “Site 

amenities are modeled as a function of proximity to water bodies, varied terrain, and wooded 



vegetation, and separation from obnoxious influences such as feedlots and junkyards. The energy and 

fiscal impact of development is a function of the density of existing rural and suburban development and 

the proximity to major employment centers.” 

   

This area has been designated as “Potential Suburban” on the Olmsted County Land Use Plan Map and 

as “Annexation Area” on the Rochester Township Land Use Plan Map.   Since the County Board approved 

removing it from the City of Rochester’s “Urban Service Area,” at the Town Board’s request, it would be 

assumed the designation has changed on the Township’s Land Use Plan from Annexation to Potential 

Suburban Development.   

 

This proposal cannot move forward until the Olmsted County Board approves the applicant’s request to 

change the designation from “Potential Suburban” to “Suburban.” 

 

 2. the amendment is in the public interest; 

 

Suburban subdivisions are in this area now and the County has determined this area to be suitable for 

future suburban development.   Roadways and transportation systems for the area have already been 

developed.   

  

 3. the proposed development is timely based on surrounding land uses, proximity to development and the 

availability and adequacy of infrastructure; 

 

 There are no large agricultural investments in the area. Tracts of land to the west are twenty acres in size 

or less.   

 

 4. the proposal permits land uses within the proposed district that are appropriate on the property and 

compatible with adjacent uses and the neighborhood.  

 

The R-1 Low Density Residential District allows for single family residential development similar to the 

land uses to the east of the proposed development.  Urban development in areas of steep wooded 

terrain disturb the soil and cause erosion much more so than Suburban Development.  It has been found 

that a grain of soil within an urban development will be moved seven times before the actual 

construction of the dwelling whereas many large lot developments only disturb a small portion of the lot 

for a dwelling.  Steep terrain and wooded areas make the area ideal for large lot development. 

 

 5. the proposal does not result in spot zoning; 

 

Adjacent areas have already been developed into residential lots.  

 

6.    The proposal is consistent with a GDP for the area if one exists. 

 

A GDP has been provided. 

 

Staff Recommendation: 

 

Staff has reviewed this request in accordance with the applicable standards and provisions as included in 

this report.  Based upon staff review and analysis above, staff recommends approval of the zone change 



request once the General Development Plan has been changed to meet the criteria of the Ordinance 

and the County has changed the Land Use Plan designation to “Suburban.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 




	November 10, 2021 Agenda.pdf (p.1)
	10-14-2021 Minutes.pdf (p.2-8)
	PE_Staff-Report_final.pdf (p.9-20)

